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Appendix 1 Citations for proposed new precinct heritage 
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A1.1 City Road industrial and warehouse precinct 

Place Name: City Road industrial and warehouse 

precinct 
Heritage Overlay: HO 

  

Address: City Road, Queens Bridge Street, 

Southbank  

 

Constructed: 1880s-1930s Heritage precinct overlay:  Proposed 

Integrity: Good Heritage overlay(s):  Proposed 

Condition: Good Proposed grading:  Significant precinct 

Significance: Historic, Aesthetic, Social   

Thematic 

Context: 

Victoria’s framework of historical 

themes 

5.3 – Marketing and retailing, 5.2 – Developing a 

manufacturing capacity 

City of Melbourne thematic 

environmental history 

5.3 – Developing a large, city-based economy, 5.5 – Building a 

manufacturing industry 

History 

The south bank of the Yarra River developed as a shipping and commercial area from the 1840s, 

although only scattered buildings existed prior to the later 19th century. Queens Bridge Street 

(originally called Moray Street North, along with City Road, provided the main access into South and 

Port Melbourne from the city when the only bridges available for foot and wheel traffic were the 

Princes the Falls bridges.  

The Kearney map of 1855 shows land north of City Road (then Sandridge Road) as poorly-drained 

and avoided on account of its flood-prone nature. To the immediate south was Emerald Hill. The Port 

Melbourne railway crossed the river at The Falls and ran north of City Road. By the time of 

Commander Cox’s 1866 map, some industrial premises were located on the Yarra River bank and 

walking tracks connected them with the Sandridge Road and Emerald Hill.  

City Road and Queens Bridge Street became important commercial thoroughfares with numerous 

warehouses and factories. For example, Robur Tea had two separate warehouse buildings, one on 

Clarendon Street and the other on Queens Bridge Street. The Castlemaine Brewery erected its two 

two-storey bottling stores and central five-storey brew tower in 1888 at 115-133 Queens Bridge 

Street. Jones Bond Store, Murphy’s modellers and engineering firm Austral Otis also established 

factories in the area in the 1880s. 

Much of City Road was devoted to businesses supplying the building industry in Melbourne’s boom 

periods. J. Wright & Son's Carron Timber Yards were located on the corner of Sturt Street and City 
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Road near Princes Bridge, with the timber yards covering several blocks. James Wright was also 

responsible for erecting many buildings around Melbourne and in the local Southbank area, and as 

such had a very substantial physical impact on the character and streetscapes of Melbourne. Wright’s 

rival was John Sharp & Sons, who erected a large premises a little further down City Road in 1912, but 

had operated on the site from at least the 1890s. 

 

The Port Melbourne cable tramway service was opened along City Road as the second-last cable line 

to be opened in 1890. Numerous service lanes were created by private subdivisions in the 1870s, and 

inevitably were paved with bluestone pitchers. Other services essential to the operation of these 

businesses included banks and hotels, both of which were located on City Road, while the South 

Melbourne Primary School was erected to provide education to the children of the local workers.  

In the 1890s a slump in industrial activity delayed development in the area, but it revived by the turn 

of the century. City Road gained a number of warehouses serving wholesale businesses with 

clothing, chemicals and machinery – the dominant products – such as Crown Chemical, Anderson’s 

printing works and wholesale furriers Kosky Bros. Maurice Artaud built a three-storey brick 

warehouse and factory in 1911 for his import and hat manufacturing trade, and at the other end of 

City Road, W. J. Bush Ltd and Potter & Moore established a large warehouse for their perfume & 

cosmetics trade. Residential areas were interspersed among the factories and warehouses, but by 

the mid-20th century, these had been replaced by more industrial organisation. 

In the early-20th century a new trade also emerged with a number of motor vehicle traders, repairers 

and manufacturers. Sharp’s Timber was taken over by General Motors (Australia) for a little over a 
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decade before they moved to their new Fishermans Bend plant, and International Harvesters took 

over the City Road buildings. G.P. Motors was one of several motor garages, which continued to be a 

dominant type business in the area into the 1960s. 

The greatest change in the area occurred in the 1990s when the Southgate development acted as 

catalyst for major change, with offices and apartments replacing many of the former industrial 

premises. The remaining buildings, however, still reflect their former uses and maintain the character 

of the area. 

Description 

The boundary of the City Road industrial and warehouse precinct is identified as HO1 in the planning 

scheme maps. 

The precinct extends from near St Kilda Road to the West Gate Freeway, encompassing properties 

along City Road, the southern end of Queens Bridge Street, parts of Kavanagh Street and Moray 

Street. A number of small, bluestone-cobbled laneways are also within the precinct, reflecting the 

former industrial and residential character where properties were serviced through these rear 

laneways. 

Significant and contributory development in the precinct dates from the late-19th century through to 

the inter-war period. Some places of heritage value may also be outside this date range, reflecting 

the continuing evolution of the precinct as a commercial and warehousing area with associated 

activities into the mid-20th century. The precinct is made up of mainly commercial, warehousing and 

manufacturing industry, with no surviving residential places. However, a hotel, a bank and the South 

Melbourne Primary School reflect the civic and support facilities this relatively self-contained 

community required. A number of small, brick electricity substations point to the supply of power of 

the industry, initially through the Melbourne Electric Supply Company.  

The precinct incorporates a small range of building types, including small, single-storey factory 

buildings with brick masonry walls and corrugated iron roofs, as well as larger, multi-story structures 

with more elaborate architect-designed facade forms. The predominant styles are a mix of 

Edwardian and inter-war styles, including several buildings demonstrating a tall-arched American 

Romanesque form, which is more common in the Central Activities District in areas like Flinders Lane, 

but is uncommon at Southbank. Examples include Maurice Artaud & Co. at 71-75 City Road, Crown 

Chemicals at 63-65 City Road, and the Robur Tea Warehouse at 107 Queens Bridge Street. The 

variety of electricity substations in utilitarian forms are representative of the contemporary styles of 

their period of construction, with elements of simple Edwardian and Moderne.   

Earlier surviving buildings present themselves as large, Victorian red-and-polychrome brick forms, 

such as the Jones Bond Store and the mansard-roofed Castlemaine Brewery. These are 

complemented by the castellated-polychrome South Melbourne Primary School, and reflect earlier 

Victorian styles in the area. 

Two large, double-storey brick masonry facades dominate the south side of City Road, covering most 

of two whole blocks. These were the public faces of the timber yards and sawmills of James Moore 

and Sharp & Sons which, with Wright’s Carron Timber Yards, dominated the Southbank streetscape 

from the end of the 19th century into the 1920s. These buildings were fairly plain in style with 

repeating forms of classically-derived arched windows in the case of Moore’s, and Edwardian 

parapeted and rendered masonry form divided horizontally by capped and ribbed pilasters in the 

case of Sharp and Sons. 



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

© Biosis 2017 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting  186 

The later buildings in the precinct reflect the changing styles during the inter-war period, such as G. P. 

Motors with its Streamlined Moderne style giving expression to the modern motor industry. 

The contributory places included in this precinct are listed in Table 14. 

 

Table 14  Contributory places in City Road precinct 

Name Address Individually 

significant or 

contributory 

Stone-pitched lane  Blakeney Place, Sml639 Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Lane off Sm0477, Catherine Street  Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Sm0199 off City Road  Contributory  

G. P. Motors Pty Ltd 35-41 City Road Individually Significant 

Draffin Bros. Everhot factory 43-47 City Road Contributory 

Crown Chemicals, Anderson & Sons printing 

works 

63-65 City Road Individually Significant 

Kosky Bros. Pty Ltd furriers 67-69 City Road Individually Significant 

Maurice Artaud & Co. 71-75 City Road  Individually Significant 

James Moore timber yard facade 133-139 141-155 City Road Individually Significant 

Melbourne Towing Service 167-169 City Road Contributory 

Sharps & Sons Timber, General Motors 

(Australia), International House 

171-193, 195-205, City Road Individually Significant 

Boyd Community Hub State School No 2686, 

later J. H. Boyd Domestic College 

207-227 City Road Individually Significant 

South Melbourne Post Office site – 

archaeological 

229 City Road Contributory 

Main Point Hotel 235-239 City Road Individually Significant 

Gregerson Motor Garage 245-261 City Road Contributory 

Bank of New South Wales  269-283 City Road Individually Significant 

Edward Murphy warehouse and workshop 272 City Road Individually Significant 

Murphy's Building, Australian Chemicals / 

Scott Paint Works 

276-282 City Road Individually Significant 

White & Hancock, Malcolm Moore 296-306 City Road Individually Significant 

W. J. Bush Ltd / Potter & Moore  344 City Road  Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane Lane Sm0337 adjacent to 54 

Clarendon Street  

Contributory  

Buckeye Harvester Co., Kelly & Lewis motor 

garage 

56-58 Clarendon Street 

 

Contributory  
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Name Address Individually 

significant or 

contributory 

Eckersley & Sons soda fountain works 93-103 Clarendon Street  Individually Significant 

Tramway electricity substation 'S' 67-69 Clarke Street  Individually Significant 

Electricity substation 79 Fawkner Street  Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Fawkner Street adjacent to 11-13 

Hancock St  

Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Haig Lane  Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Lane SN549 off Hancock St  Contributory  

Electricity substation 33 Hancock Street  Contributory  

S & K Motors 35-37 Hancock Street Contributory  

Austral Otis engineering works, 

later Regent House 

127-129 Kavanaugh St, 63-83 

Kings Way  

Individually Significant 

Jones Bond store  1 Riverside Avenue & Southbank 

Boulevard 

Individually Significant 

Electricity substation 7 Moray Street Contributory  

Southern Cross Windmills 18-24 Moray Street Contributory  

MFB Station No 38 26-40 Moray Street Contributory  

Stone-pitched lane  Lane PL5195, southeast of  

76-80 Power Street  

Contributory  

Vacuum Oil Co. stores 87-89 Queens Bridge Street  Contributory  

Robur Tea Company factory & warehouse 107-127 Queens Bridge Street  Individually Significant 

Castlemaine Brewery complex with brewing 

tower and bottling stores adjoining 

129-131 Queens Bridge Street  Individually Significant 

City Road Park / Castlemaine Hotel – 

archaeological 

135 Queens Bridge Street  

 

Contributory 

Comparative analysis 

The precinct retains the last substantial group of original late-19th and early-20th century buildings in 

the Southbank and Fishermans Bend areas. The precinct compares with the ‘Rag Trade’ district of 

Flinders Lane with its prominence of tall, American Romanesque arches. Other former 

concentrations of industrial and warehouse buildings, such as West Melbourne and South Carlton, 

have been diminished through re-development in recent decades. 

Assessment of significant areas and elements 

What is significant? 

The City Road industrial and warehouse precinct, located on City Road, Queens Bridge Street, 

Clarendon Street, Fawkner Street, Moray Street and adjacent laneways in Southbank, and comprising 

the extent of land and significant and contributory buildings. 
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How is it significant?  

The area is historically and aesthetically significant to Southbank and the City of Melbourne. 

Why is it significant?  

For its rare, surviving industrial and commercial buildings that were once the characteristic building 

types in the area south of the Yarra River. This area was regarded as the industrial seed-bed, 

supporting commercial activities with essential warehousing and wholesale supplies for Melbourne 

business.  

The variety of industrial and warehouse building forms are distinctive expressions of the important 

mercantile activity that developed along the south bank of the Yarra River around the turn of the 20th 

century, and as such is representative of the major industrial development that occurred in the 

Victorian and inter-war periods.  

The surviving buildings in the precinct are aesthetically significant for their range of late-Victorian, 

Edwardian and inter-war architectural treatments of commercial and industrial premises which, 

despite being utilitarian, still demonstrated a finely-resolved presentation to the street. This is 

evidence of the role that buildings’ appearances had as part of a company’s public face in marketing 

and promotion. Styles employed reflect the fashions of the time, whether classically-derived, arts-

and-craft-inspired or Streamlined Moderne, indicating that functional spaces were seen as 

contributing to the aesthetic character of the city. 

Contributory elements 

 The scale and character of the one- to five-storey factory and warehouse buildings 

constructed in City Road, Queens Bridge Street and surrounding streets between the 

late-19th century and World War II and the predominant building forms and materials 

of the precinct. 

 The traditional association with mercantile and motoring activities.  

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the 

Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (‘The Burra Charter’) 2013 using 

the HERCON criteria. The relevant criteria are set out below: 

Criterion Description Application 

A:  Importance to the course, or pattern, of our 

cultural or natural history. 

The distinctive mercantile and 

industrial character of the precinct 

marks it as an important aspect of the 

city’s history. 

B: Possession of uncommon, rare or 

endangered aspects of our cultural or 

natural history.  

 

C: Potential to yield information that will 

contribute to an understanding of our 

cultural or natural history 

 

D: Importance in demonstrating the principal 

characteristics of a class of cultural or natural 

places and objects. 

 



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

© Biosis 2017 – Leaders in Ecology and Heritage Consulting  189 

Criterion Description Application 

E:  Importance in exhibiting particular aesthetic 

characteristics.  

The range of architectural styles as 

applied to mercantile buildings forms 

an unusual but cohesive grouping. 

F: Importance in demonstrating a high degree 

of creative or technical achievement at a 

particular period 

 

G:  Strong or special association with a particular 

community or cultural group for social, 

cultural or spiritual reasons. This includes the 

significance of a place to Indigenous peoples 

as part of their continuing and developing 

cultural traditions. 

. 

H: Special association with the life or works of a 

person, or group of persons, of importance 

in our history. 

 

Recommendations 

Include as precinct inside the Capital City Zone in the heritage overlay. 

Revise Heritage Places Inventory. 
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A1.2 Lower South Wharf shipping sheds and berths precinct 

Place Name: Lower South Wharf shipping sheds 

and berths heritage precinct 

Citation No: 

Heritage overlay: 

 

0 

HO 

 

 
 

 
 

Address: 208, 641-713, 593-629  

& 593-611 Lorimer Street, 

Port Melbourne   

 

Category:  wharf Heritage precinct overlay:  Proposed 

Constructed: 1950s Heritage overlay(s):  Proposed 

Builder Melbourne Harbour Trust Proposed grading:  Significant precinct 

First owner: Melbourne Harbour Trust Victorian Heritage Register:  No 

Integrity: Good Significance: Historic, social 

Condition: Good   

Thematic Context: Victoria’s framework of 

historical themes 

3.1 – Establishing pathways. 

City of Melbourne thematic 

environmental history 

9.1 – A working class, 5.2 – Melbourne as a trading port 
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History 

Melbourne’s river wharves had their genesis on the north bank of the Yarra River just below the rock 

bar, where the ‘Pool’ formed a natural berthage. As the city grew, wharves were constructed on both 

banks, and progressively extended downstream. The wharves were occasionally demolished and 

rebuilt when the river itself was widened. The Harbour Trust prepared a report to this effect early in 

its history, but the land was not reserved because, ‘the Government had in contemplation the vesting 

of the whole of the lands in West Melbourne Swamp, and all the unsold lands south of the river, in a 

commission as an endowment for educational purposes.’  

By the 1920s the wharves had extended to the mouth of Victoria Dock. Modernisation of South 

Wharf commenced with the partial reconstruction of the No. 15 shed during 1941-1943 by day 

labour, and then the No. 27 shed in 1942-1943, also by day labour. In 1946, No. 27 shed was replaced 

entirely. Other works included the installation of approximately 550 metres of crane rails from berths 

27 to 30 in 1943, and deck reconstruction in 1949 (Docklands Heritage Study). 

These works resulted in South Wharf west of the old middle Swinging Basin emerging during this 

period as a major centre of activity within the port. During the 1950s the steel trade was also 

relocated to No. 21, South Wharf. Steel had previously been handled by conventional means at 

berths 1 through 4 and the Victoria Dock. The opening of new coal wharves at Appleton Dock, also in 

the 1950s, meant that the Harbour Trust could transfer its coal-loading facilities from five other 

berths at Victoria Dock and South Wharf. 

In 1957, four six-ton cranes were erected at No. 21, South Wharf, at a cost of £153,114 for steel 

handling. By 1962, 30-32 South Wharf had a total length of 549 metres of berthage, ranking seventh 

largest in the port. 

When No. 6 North Wharf was closed to shipping with the construction of the Charles Grimes Bridge 

in 1975, one of the Stothert and Pitt three-ton portal electric wharf cranes built by Marfleet & Height, 

which had been erected at Nos. 27 to 30 South Wharf (Annex) at the end of 1945, was transferred to 

the site for training purposes (Docklands Heritage Study). 

Shed 30 was constructed in 1950 as part of modernisation of Melbourne Wharves, as they shifted 

from systems involving manhandling cargoes from ships to rail wagons to using large cranes and 

containers to transfer directly from ships to road vehicles.  

Part of the site of shed 21 was also used for construction of the steel-framed two-storey Port 

Workers' Amenities and Office Buildings by A. C. Leith of Bartlett & Partner in 1957. This was an 

attempt by the Harbour Trust to both meet the needs of the dockworkers and reduce the influence 

of the militant unions by removing some of the services that the unions had previously provided. 

 The site was also a focus of the 1960s and 1970s dockland wars, when union offices were set on fire, 

a great deal of intimidation occurred between the rival unions, and union election results were 

rigged. The dockland wars culminated in the disappearance of Arthur 'The Ferret' Nelson, whose car 

was found in the river at 21 South Wharf, and the killing of a 10-year-old boy who was a bystander to 

the violence between rivals within the Federated Ship Painters and Dockers Union.  

Description 

The South Wharf is constructed with a combination of timber piles, cross heads, walers and braces 

with either timber-planked decks or reinforced concrete. Several sections have had the original 

timber piles replaced with concrete. 

Shed 21 is a large, welded steel-framed and corrugated iron clad shed with travelling cranes.  

It originally had seven bays but this number was reduced to 4.5 in recent years. The timber-piled 
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wharf also has a later-built concrete deck. Remnants of the former Webb Dock Rail Line run on the 

Lorimer Street verge beside the wharf. Other amenities buildings associated with the wharf were 

demolished about 10 years ago. 

Shed 27 is a brick and corrugated iron clad shipping shed with 10 sets of sliding metal-finished doors 

to each side, elevation, and the timber floor is supported on timber piles with shear heads and cast 

iron connectors. Upper-level steel-framed windows give light at door-head height. There are no ridge 

lanterns and the eastern end has a brick-and-steel-framed section of two levels with a nearly flat 

roof, for offices, amenities and a dining room. 

Shed 30 is a brick and corrugated iron clad shipping shed with 12 sets of sliding metal-finished doors 

to each side, elevation, and concrete floor supported on timber piles with shear heads and metal 

connectors. There are no ridge lanterns and the eastern end has a brick-and-steel-framed section of 

two levels set within the main shed roofline. This has steel-framed windows to the sides and in the 

gable end. The shed has been reclad in zincalum in recent decades. 

Shed 31 is a brick and corrugated iron clad shipping shed with nine sets of sliding metal finished 

doors to each side, elevation, and a concrete floor supported on timber piles with shear heads and 

metal connectors. There are no ridge lanterns and the eastern end has a brick-and-steel-framed 

section of two levels with nearly flat roof, for offices, amenities and a dining room. A third level has 

been added to this in recent decades. The shed number is displayed in large, rendered, raised 

numerals on the side of the amenities block. 

There are remnants of Shed 32 to the west, with two bays at the eastern end and six bays at the 

western end, although this has had the roof removed. 

Contributory elements to the precinct include the following: 

Table 15 Contributory places in South Wharf precinct. 

Name Address Date 
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21 South Wharf, steel sheds 

and cranes 
208 Lorimer Street, 

Docklands  

1950 C 3 Yes 

27 South Wharf, Shed 27 641-713 Lorimer Street,  

Port Melbourne  

1946 C 3 Yes 

30 South Wharf, Shed 30 Rear, 

593-629 Lorimer Street,  

Port Melbourne  

1953 C 3 Yes 

31 South Wharf, Shed 31 593-611 Lorimer Street, 

Port Melbourne  
1953 C 3 Yes 
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Shed 21 

 

Shed 27 
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Shed 30 

 

Shed 31 

Comparative analysis 

Of the thirty or so wharf sheds on the south side of the river, only sheds 2, 4-9, 21, 27, 20 and 31 

survive. Elsewhere in the port, surviving wharf sheds comprise sheds 5 North Wharf, and 1-2, 9, 14, 

22 and 24 Victoria Dock. Of these, the sheds of a similar style and period (i.e. 1950s-1960s), are 

confined to sheds 5 North Wharf and 14 Victoria Dock, although the latter was substantially rebuilt 

after World War II, from the shed that was first constructed in 1916-1917. Shed 9 was similarly rebuilt 

but retains more of its original form. Sheds 22 and 24, Victoria Dock are welded steel-portal-frame 

structures of the last period of  
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Assessment of significant areas and elements 

What is significant? 

The South Wharf shipping shed group comprising sheds 21, 27, 30 and 31 and the adjacent wharves, 

from east of Shed 21 to the west of Shed 31. 

 Contributory elements include:  

  corrugated iron, timber and brick-clad pitched roof form, 

 timber and concrete wharf aprons, 

 timber-and-steel-clad sliding loading doors, 

 steel-framed windows above door-head height, and 

 two-storey amenities block at eastern ends of sheds 27 and 31. 

How is it significant?  

The South Wharf shipping shed group is historically and socially significant to Southbank and City of 

Melbourne.    

Why is it significant? 

The South Wharf shipping shed group is historically significant as these are some of the few surviving 

original structures reflecting the major post-World War II changes in wharf handling systems. They 

are among only a handful of wharf sheds that survived in the port, with five located downstream of 

the Charles Grimes Bridge. 

The sheds are socially significant for the site’s role in early attempts to change the power relationship 

between the Harbour Trust and the unions, in reducing the requirements for both labour and 

provision of amenities. This, however, resulted in the infamous 'dockland wars' of the 1960s and 

1970s, leading to the Costigan Royal Commission. 

This place has been assessed in accordance with the processes and guidelines outlined in the 

Australia ICOMOS Charter for Places of Cultural Heritage Significance (‘The Burra Charter’) 2013 using 

the HERCON criteria. The relevant criteria are set out below: 

Criterion Description Application 

A:  Importance to the course, or pattern, of our 

cultural or natural history. 

Characteristic of former shipping and 

goods handling systems prior to 

containerisation. 

B: Possession of uncommon, rare or 

endangered aspects of our cultural or 

natural history.  

The sheds are the last examples of 

their type in the Melbourne Docks. 

C: Potential to yield information that will 

contribute to an understanding of our 

cultural or natural history. 
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Criterion Description Application 

D: Importance in demonstrating the principal 

characteristics of a class of cultural or 

natural places and objects. 

The wharf sheds represent the former 

manual handling of goods prior to 

containerisation. 

E:  Importance in exhibiting particular aesthetic 

characteristics.  

 

F: Importance in demonstrating a high degree 

of creative or technical achievement at a 

particular period. 

 

G:  Strong or special association with a 

particular community or cultural group for 

social, cultural or spiritual reasons. This 

includes the significance of a place to 

Indigenous peoples as part of their 

continuing and developing cultural 

traditions. 

The wharves and sheds have strong 

associations for their role in the union 

struggles and the docklands wars. 

H: Special association with the life or works of a 

person, or group of persons, of importance 

in our history. 

 

Recommendations 

Include as a precinct outside the Capital City Zone in the heritage overlay. 

Revise Heritage Places Inventory. 
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Newspaper articles and advertising 

Daily Commercial News and Shipping List (Sydney, NSW : 1891 - 1954), Wednesday 8 November 

1950, p.1. 

NEW STEEL BERTH FOR MELBOURNE  

Work has commenced at Melbourne on No. 21 South Wharf, which will be converted into a special 

steel-handling berth at an estimated cost of £350,000. The work marks a further step in the 

Melbourne 'Harbour Trust's plan for full mechanisation of port, operations for faster turn-round of' 

shipping. Plans provide for a new shed and wharf and overhead cranes, enabling complete 

mechanical handling of steel from, ships to motor transport. A Harbour Trust official stressed the 

urgency of the new berth by pointing out that the Australian steel industry plans to raise its yearly 

output to 2,225,000 tons by 1952. At present steel is being dis-charged from ships at several different 

berths. By centralising steel handling the new berth will release other berths to handle general cargo. 

The berth will have four six-ton wharf cranes, with seven overhead bridge cranes within the .1-20- 

feet long shed. The cranes will be able to load bundles of steel direct from the ship to vehicles waiting 

on the roadway. The concrete roadway, also under construction, will be 100 feet wide. A feature of 

the specially designed shed will be that unloading cargo from a newly-arrived ship will not be affected 

by work on clearing cargo discharged by a previous vessel. 

The Argus, Saturday 3 March 1956, page 21. 

A. C. LEITH BARTLETT & PARTNERS. 

Architects & Engineers, 458 St Kilda Road, Melbourne. 

On behalf of the Melbourne Harbour Trust Commissioners, invite TENDERS for the Erection of Steel 

Framed 2-storey Port Workers' Amenities and Office Buildings at 21 South Wharf, Port Melbourne. 

Quantities by Crisp S. Wolferstan. Documents available at Architects' Office by appointment. 

Tenders close noon, Monday 26th March. 

Canberra Times, Tuesday 25 January 1972, page 1. 

"Arson' in dockland war 

MELBOURNE, Monday. - There were two developments today in Melbourne's ‘waterfront war’. 

Firstly the office of the Victorian brunch of the Federated Ship Painters and Dockers Union, in Lorimer 

Street, South Melbourne, was burnt out by what Arson Squad detectives believe was a petrol bomb. 

Secondly, the car of Mr Alfred ("The Ferret") Nelson, 47, the branch welfare officer who is missing, 

believed murdered, was recovered from deep water at 21 South Wharf. 

The union office was found burning at 3am and in the early confusion it was believed that ballot 

papers and results of the branch's December 10 election had been destroyed. However, the ballot 

papers, the certified results and related documents are safe in a city bank. 

Mr Pat Shannon, the secretary of the Victorian branch of the dockers' union, said today the ballot 

papers had been put in the bank immediately after the election. 

"We didn't want anything happening to them", he said. 

Mr Shannon said the results of the election would be announced at the general meeting of the 

Victorian branch of the union tomorrow. 
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Three well-known dockers have not been seen in public since early in December and there is 

curiosity on the waterfront as to whether they will attend tomorrow's general meeting. 

Police patrols have been watching the house of one of the men near the Port Melbourne football 

ground. 

Mr Nelson has been missing from his house in Collingwood since the night of December 7. His 

bedclothes were pulled back and his watch and small change were neatly arranged on a bedside 

table. His friends and the police fear he may have been abducted while he was taking a shower. 

Until his car was found on the bank of the Yarra at South Wharf today, they believed he had been 

‘buried’ in it. 

Emerald Hill Record, 16 Sep 1905 p. 4, 1 May 1873 p.3. 

Maps 

MMBW Sewerage Plan, 1 inch to 160 feet, 1897. 

Mahlstedt Fire Insurance Plans, South Melbourne, c1920, c1930, c1950, State Library of Victoria. 

The City of Melbourne CoMMap. 
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Appendix 2 Citations for existing heritage overlays to be 

retained 

In cases, multiple places are included within the same heritage overlay, as these correspond to the 

Victorian Heritage Register extent of registration: 

 HO760 has separate citations for the Victorian Arts Centre and Hamer Hall,  

 HO910 has separate citations for the Police Barracks, Mounted Police Stables and Police 

hospital, and 

 HO764 has separate citations for the Duke & Orr dry docks and Wharf Sheds 2 to 9. 
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James Moore timber yards and sawmills complex facade, 135 & 151 City Road, 68-82 Southbank 
Boulevard, Southbank  

Sharp & Sons, later General Motors (Australia) Pty Ltd complex, later International Harvester 
facade (part) 171-193 & 199 City Road, Southbank  

State School No. 2686, later South Melbourne Girls' School, J. H. Boyd Domestic College, 207 City 
Road, Southbank  

Main Point Hotel, 235 City Road, Southbank  

Bank of New South Wales, 269-283 City Road, Southbank  

Edward Murphy warehouse and workshop, 272 City Road, Southbank  

Murphy's buildings, 276-282 City Road, Southbank  

White & Hancock's warehouse, later White, Hancock & Mills Pty Ltd, 300 City Road, Southbank  

Fergus & Mitchell, later Robur Tea warehouse, 28 Clarendon Street, Southbank  

Queen's Bridge, Queens Bridge Street, Southbank  

Sandridge Rail Bridge, Queens Bridge Square, 1 Queens Bridge Street, Southbank  

Jones Bond store, 1 Riverside Quay, Southbank  

Duke & Orr’s dry dock, South Wharf and Cargo Sheds 1-27 & 29-65, South Wharf Promenade, 2 
Clarendon Street, South Wharf  

Cargo sheds, berths 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9 South Wharf, 29 South Wharf Promenade, South Wharf  

Hamer Hall, part of the Arts Centre Melbourne, 100 St Kilda Road, Southbank  

Arts Centre Melbourne precinct – Concert Hall, Theatre and Spire, 2 St Kilda Road, Southbank  

National Gallery of Victoria, 180 St Kilda Road, Southbank  

Victoria Police Barracks, later part of the Victorian College of the Arts 234, St Kilda Road, 
Southbank  

Victoria Police Mounted Branch stables, part Victoria Police Depot complex, 234 St Kilda Road & 
13 Dodds Street, Southbank  

Police hospital, part Victorian Mounted Police Depot complex,  234 St Kilda Road, Southbank  

Castlemaine Brewery Malthouse, 113 Sturt Street, Southbank  
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Heritage overlay:
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Heritage overlay:
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Heritage overlay:
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Boundary of heritage place 

 

Description 

The South Melbourne branch of the Bank of New South Wales design is unconventional, compared to 
a bank constructed for the company in Camperdown (1935) and others designed by Godfrey & 
Spowers, which are all in a conservative style (hipped roof on a neo-Georgian elevation). 

Jazz Moderne in style, the bank possesses a parapet, stylised cornice, entablature and string mould, 
in the Classical manner, but arranged and detailed in a way reflecting both Aztec and Egyptian 
influences, typical of the Moderne style. The string frieze are stylised papyrus capitals or lotus 
borders, whilst the architrave to the entrance door possesses bas-relief chevrons. The fenestration, 
with its vertical emphasis, may be compared with the Chapel Sesostris I at Karnak. Additional 
decoration occurs in bas-relief at the tympanums of window openings and in isolated panels in the 
stucco. 

The design is unusual and a reflection of the effect of exotic styles in parallel with the move to 
Modernism. 

History 

The South Melbourne branch of the Bank of New South Wales opened its premises in City Road in 
1932 and its designers, Godfrey & Spowers, were one of the most prolific designers of banks in 
Victoria at the time, mostly for the Bank of New South Wales and many in the inter-war period, both in 
Victoria and NSW.  

The Bank of New South Wales was the first bank in Australia, being established in Sydney in 1817. 
During the 19th and early-20th century, the bank opened branches throughout Australia and Oceania. 
The bank merged with many other financial institutions, finally merging with the Commercial Bank of 
Australia in 1982 to form the Westpac Banking Corporation. The opening of this bank branch followed 
a period of rapid expansion soon after the Great Depression where the bank purchased Australian 
Bank of Commerce, which had branches in both New South Wales and Queensland, and the Western 
Australian Bank. 
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Heritage overlay:
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Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

248



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

249



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

250



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

251



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

252



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

253



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

254



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

255



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

256



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

257



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

258



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

259



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

260



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

261



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

262

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

263



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

264



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

265



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

266



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

267

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

268



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

269



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

270



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

271

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

272



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

273



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

274



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

275



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

276

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

277



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

278



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

279



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

280

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

281



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

282



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

283



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

284



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

285

Heritage overlay:



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

286



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

287



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

288



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

289



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

290



Southbank and Fishermans Bend Heritage Review 

291

Heritage overlay:
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